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IN THE COURT OF COHMON PLEAS JUDGE VETTEL 

JAbIES LOVETT, A d m i n i s t r a t o r  
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Un ive r s i t y  H o s p i t a l ,  750 E a s t  A d a m  Street, Syracuse,  

N e w  York, on February 2 3 ,  1 9 8 3 ,  before  D e b o r a h  S. GosIiEe, 

C o u r t  R e p o r t e r  and N o t a r y  Dublic i n  and fo r  t h e  S t a t e  of 

New York. 

For the P l a i n t i f f :  

CFAXLES KLx<PIPJSKI CO. ,  Z.P.A. 
A t t o r n e y s  a t  Law 
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APPEAMECES (cont inued)  : 

For t h e  Defendant Yenor ia l  I l o s p i t a l  of Geneva: 

PEM_I?.IGEP, & REMINC-ER. CO. , L.  P . A .  
At to rneys  a t  Law 
The 1 1 3  Eu i ld ing  
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BY: GEORGE S .  COAKLEV, ESQ. 
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Attorneys  a t  Law 
100 Erieview P l a z a  
Four t een th  F l o o r  
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J O H N  B .  F.! c C I? €3 E , F? . I? . , having been 

cal led as a wi tnes s ,  being d u l y  sworn, t e s t i f i e d  as follows: 

EYa..IINATION BY PIR. MELLINO: 

E Yould you s t a t e  your  f u l l  na-e fo r  t h e  record.? 

A. John Bernard IdcCabe .  

Q. And w h a t ' s  17our a d d r e s s ?  

A. fiorne ad?ress  is 4447 Swissvale,  S-W-I-S-S-V-A-L-E 

Drive,  y a n l i u s ,  >!-A-N-5-I-U-S, New York. 

P nr. %zCaSe, a s  you know, my narne i s  C h r i s  y e l l i n o .  

I r e p r e s e n t  t h e  P l a i n t i f f  i n  t h i s  a c t i o n .  I'm g o i n s  t o  be 

asking you a number of q u e s t i o n s  t h i s  a f t e rnoon .  

And I would on ly  a s k  t w o  t h i n q s  of you, one i s  you 

answer ve rba l ly  so t h e  Court  Renor te r  car! t a k e  down a l l  \'our 

answers ,  and t h e  o t h e r  t h i n ?  i s  i f  you d.on't unders tand  anv 

of my q u e s t i o n s ,  p l e a s e  ask me t o  r ephrase  the-  so we under-  

s t a n d  each o t h e r .  

A. Okay. 

0. Dr. "cCabe, I'm handin? you what ' s  been marked as 

E x h i b i t  1 which is a copy of your  C.V. which I have been 
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Dr. 3cCabe 5 

provided by Mr. Dapore. 

Can you tell me if that C.V. is up to date, 

accurate? 

A. This is dated July, ' 8 7 .  So there are a couple 

of additions in terns of some activities or puSlications 

that would need to be updated. 

inzormation is correct, relatively up to date. 

But essentially a l l  the 

MR. DAPOEE: Do you have a current one? 

TEE VITNESS: Eo, that's the most current 

one that I have printed. I do redo then once 

a year. So this thing -- 

9 A l l  right. You saic! there were publications that 

are not on here? 

A. Yes, if you, actually there are some publications 

which were pending at the time this was written that have 

been printed since then. For instance, this has been printed 

(indicating) in the Journal of Emergency Xedicine. This is 

now scheduled f o r  May of this year (indicating). This is 

scheduled for April of this year. And then there would be a 

couple different articles that have been submitted. but not 

yet published. 

I can provide you with a list of those, if necessary. 

Q. :ilould you do that, please? 
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D r .  McCabe 6 

A. Sure.  

I. Xhat i s  your c u r r e n t  p o s i t i o n ?  

A. C u r r e n t  p o s i t i o n  i s  A s s o c i a t e  Director of c r i t i c a l  

c a r e  and emergency n-iedicine h e r e  i n  t h e  C n i v e r s i t y  H o s p i t a l .  

And then  I ’ m  an A s s o c i a t e  P r o f e s s o r  of  c r i t i c a l  care and 

emergency medic ine  a t  t h e  medica l  school  he re .  

Q. What do you do i n  t h o s e  p o s i t i o n s ?  

A. I n  t h o s e  p o s i t i o n s  I have c l i n i c a l  r e s p o n s i b i l i t y ,  

t e a c h i n g  r e s p o n s i b i l i t y ,  and a d m i n i s t r a t i v e  r e s p o n s i b i l i t y .  

I c u r r e n t l y  work about  20 hours  a week here i n  t h e  emergency 

deFar tven t  a s  a t t e n d i n g  p h y s i c i a n  a t  Unive r s i ty  H o s p i t a l .  

I spend probably an  equa l  number of hours  do in9  

a d m i n i s t r a t i v e  d u t i e s  t o  oversee t h e  o p e r a t i o n  of t h e  emergency 

department h e r e  a t  U n i v e r s i t y  Hospital. 

And t h e n  an equa l  number of hours i n  a m i x t u r e  of 

r e s e a r c h  and t e a c h i n g  a c t i v i t i e s  f o r  medical s t u s e n t s ,  

r e s i d e n t s  h e r e  a t  t h e  medica l  schoo l  complex. 

P Eave y o u t e s t i f i e d  b e f o r e  on behalf  o f ,  well, a s  

an  e x p e r t  i n  a rneclicaf m a l p r a c t i c e  c a s e ?  

A. I have n o t  t e s t i f i e d !  i n  c o u r t .  I have q i v e n  

d e p o s i t i o n  b e f o r e ,  medical  m a l p r a c t i c e .  

Q. I n  how many o t h e r  c a s e s ?  

A. One o t h e r  t o  d e p o s i t i o n .  
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D r .  McCabe 7 

P What d i d  t h a t  c a s e  involve?  

A. I t  i s  an emergency department  p a t i e n t , n u l t i p l e  

trauma w i t h  c e r v i c a l  s p i n e  i n j u r y .  

P Did you t e s t i f y  on behal f  of t h e  P l a i n t i f f  o r  t h e  

Defendant? 

8. T h a t ' s  a P l a i n t i f f .  

Q. A r e  t h e r e  o t h e r  cases t h a t  vou have reviewed? 

A. Other  cases t h a t  I have rev ieved ,  I w i l l  guess  

probably  i n  t h e  neighborhood of e i g h t ,  t e n ,  twelve  naybe 

a t  t h e  rnost. That  would a l l  be over  t h e  l a s t  f o u r  y e a r s .  

Some were i n  t h a t  t i m e  frame. 

Q A r e  any of t h o s e  cases s t i l l  pending? 

R I t  i s  my unders tandinq t h a t  one cr two of them 

a r e  s t i l l  pending. 

i n  any of them. So I have n o t  had r e c e n t  c o n t a c t  wi th  any 

of t h o s e  c a s e s .  

But I ' v e  n o t  been asked t o  do d e p o s i t i o n  

Q. Can you g i v e  m e  a breakdown on which s i d e  you have 

reviewed t h e  cases f o r ?  

A. I w i l l  guess  it i s  p r e t t y  close t o  50 /50 ,  maybe a 

s l i g h t  edae  towards t h e  Defendant ' s  s i d e .  But p r e t t y  much 

50/50.  

P How d i d  you become invclved i n  t h i s  c a s e ?  

A. In t h i s  case 1 g o t  a c a l l  f r o m  ~ r .  Ken T57iner 
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9 Dr. McCabe 

(phonetic) who is a physician that I know in emergency 

medicine in Ohio through my time when I lived in Ohio. 

he simply asked me if I would be willing to have him give 

my name to this firm (indicating) and to have me review a 

And! 

case. I sail! f would be willing to do that. 

And then I ' m  not sure who the ,initial phone contact 

came from, -- 

THE WITNESS: Whether it was yourself -- 

MR. DAPORE: It was ne. 

R He gave me brief details of the case and asked if 

I would be willing to review the material. 

Q What hospital is Dr. b?iner associa.ted with? 

A. I'm not sure of the exact hospital. Fie'-s associated 

with multiple hospitals in the C-leveland area, is an emergency 

physician, but I don't know his exact hospital detail. I know 

him more through my dealings with the Ohio Chapter of The 

American College of Emerqency Physicians. 

Q Have you reviewed any cases on Sehalf of Jacobson, 

Maynard, Tuschman b K a l u r  -- 

A, No. 

Q. -- prior to this? 

in a lawsuit? 

YR. COAX 

Have you ever beeR a Defenzant 

EV: Objection, 
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9 D r .  PlcCabe  

YR.  - DP-PORE: Objectior, .  You can answer. 

A. N o .  

Q. \ghat vere vou asked t o  do i n  t h i s  c a s e ?  

F.. r was askec! t o  review t h e  r e c o r d s  t h a t  were s e n t  

t o  m e  and t o  g a t h e r  an op in ion  r e q a r d i n g  t h i s  emergency 

depar tment  care t h a t  was r ende red  i n  t h i s  case. And then  r 

discussedl t h a t  w i t h  Er. Dapore. 

Q D i t !  you know D r .  Conant? 

A. No, 1 diC! n o t .  

Q Iiow about  D r .  J e n i a c  ( p h o n e t i c ) ?  

F.. I know D r .  Zeniac through r-ty ?!ealinns w i t h  t h e  

O h i o  Chapter  of The American C o l l e g e  of Eneroency Phys ic ians .  

Q. When d i d  you l i v e  i n  Ohio? 

A. I l i v e d  i n  Gbio f r o m  J u l y  of 1 9 7 9  u n t i l  rouqhly 

July l s t ,  1337.  

0 ??ow, i n  your r e p o r t  you i n d i c a t e  you reviewed t h e  

emergency department  r eco rds  from Geneva Y e i i o r i a l  Hosp i t a l  

and t h e  au topsy  r e p o r t ,  says  t h e  o p i n i o n s  of E r .  Bi t terman 

( p h o n e t i c )  and D r .  J en i ac ,  I assume t h a t  means t h e i r  r e p o r t s ?  

A. r had a copy of l e t te rs  f r o m  both t h o s e  i n d i v i d u a l s .  

0. And also t h e  d e p o s i t i o n  of ?k. Love t t ?  

A. Correct.  

Q. Did you review a n y t h i n g  e l s e ?  
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A. I ' m  not sure if you said it. There was a record 

from the Richmond !!eights Clinic, three enerqency department 

visit recorzs, the two fetters, Dr. Bitterman and Zeniac, 

the autopsy report, and hlr. Lovett's d-eposition. I think 

that was all that was sent initially to ne. 

Q. $?hat have yoii reviewed since then? 

A. I've a l so  reviewed a Seposition from a nurse in 

the emergency department whose naine I can't -- 

MR. DAPORE: 2obinson. 

A. Robinson. 

Q. Were you told anythina, ar,y facts of this case by 

anybody ? 

MR. DAPORE: Objection. 

P Other than what's contained ir, the documents you 

reviewed? 

A. M 1 7  information pertainins to the case has come f r o m  

m y  discussions with Yr. Dapore and! from the materials that 

have been sent that I reviewed. 

And I should also say from probably a one-minute 

phone conversation with Dr. Winer when I initially had the 

contact. 

P Well, did you rely on anything for the purpose of 

rendering your opinion that was told to you by Mr. Dapore 
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Dr. McCabe 11 

that was not contained in any of the records or depositions? 

A. EO * 

Q. Did you ever review any staternents made by Dr. 

Conant? 

A. NO. 

e Were you ever told anything about what he said 

happenet! in this case? 

A. N o t  to the best of mi7 knowledge, no. 

e Did you review any Eedical literature to either 

prepare your report OK to testify today? 

A. Not specifically, no. 

Q What do you rnean by not specifically? 

A. T.;iell, let me rephrase that. No, I c?id not take any 

books or journals out in order to preFare for today's 

deposition. 

P H o w  about to prepare your report? 

A. At the time that I prepared the report, I think I 

probably did do some background reading in soxe of the current 

energency medicine textbooks. 

Q. What textbooks would you consider authoritative 

on this subject? 

Pi Well, it is hard to give you m e  textbook that's 

authoritative. Emergency medicine practice is multiple 
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j o u r n a l s .  

dozen tex tbooks  t h a t  s p e c i f i c a l l y  re la te  t o  emergencv medicine 

And c u r r e n t  p r a c t i c e ,  t h e r e  are  probably h a l f  a 

Q Well, what a re  they?  

A. You would l i k e  n a r e s  of books? 

€2 Y e s .  

A. That  a re  a l l  c u r r e n t l y  o u t  on t h e  t o p i c  of emergency 

medicine? 

Q That  you would c o n s i d e r  a u t h o r i t a t i v e .  

A. Ne11 -- 

P Doesn ' t  have t o  be an  e x h a u s t i v e  l i s t .  

A. C u r r e n t  books t h a t  are used i n  t h e  emeraency 

depar tment  would be Rosen 's  P r i n c i p a l s  and Practices of 

m e r q e n c y  F e d i c i n e ,  Calla5am's Cur ren t  Practice i n  Emergency 

Xedic ine ,  Trunkey 's  Cur ren t  Pract ice  of Emergency bqedicine,  

S w a r t z  P r i n c i p a l s  and Practices of Emerqency ??edicine.  

Yone as a sinqle r e f e r e n c e  t h a t  i s  t h e  a u t h o r i t a t i v e  

book. 

Q. Maybe you answerec! t h i s  a l r e a d y ,  you sa id  you s p e n t  

2 0  hours  of c l i n i c a l  p r a c t i c e  i n  t h e  emerqency room h e r e ?  

A. uhm- k?rn 

c. D o  you a c t u a l l y  t r e a t  

A. I do both .  

0. What i s  t h e  s t anda rd  

ACHlNE 
R 

p a t i e n t s  o r  do you s u p e r v i s e ?  

f care f o r  s i q n i n q  o u t  a 
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Ds. McCabe 13 

patient against medical advice? 

A* The standard of care from the er,erTency denartment 

here specifically you are askinq? 

D Yes. 

A. I think in order to sign out a patient acjainst 

medical advice, it is reauired that the patient understanc! 

the need and the request, suqqestion for admission, that they 

be aware of their diagnosis, and be aware of the qotential 

complications of leaving against medical advice. And they 

need to understand and accept full responsibility of the 

consequences of their action. 

P. How often have you signed out a patient aqainst 

medical advice? 

A. TJell, that's difficult to say. 1 would say it is 

an uncomnon occurrence. I nean it is not a rare event. 

Zut, you know, probably in my clinical practice 

I woulc? guess once or twice a month that type of a situation 

comes up. 

0. Xhen you say that type of situation, would that be 

a situation where somebody actually leaves the hospital or 

where they don't want to be admitted? 

A. 1 would say the setting where a patient doesn't 

want to be admitted is certainly more frequent. F7hen I say 
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Dr. McCabe 14 

that type of event, one which involves a discussion and/or 

a signing out of somebody against medical advice. 

0. 

A. Would be a little less frequent. 

Q Less frequent than once or twice a month? 

A. Sure. Again, I can't give you a specific number, 

Where t h e y  actually sign out and leave the h o s p i t a l ?  

That's a best guess. 

Q. What's atropine? 

A. In the context of this case or in general? 

Q. In general. 

A. It is an agent that's use6 f o r  many purposes. It 

increases h e a r t  rate. So we use it as a cardiac medication 

in the setting of cardiac arrest. 

It is also used t o  dry, f o r  instance, mucosal 

membranes and decrease secretions. 

anesthetic agent. 

S o  it is used as a pre- 

Also has some effect on muscle relaxation. So it 

is mostly used to settle the GI tract, for instance. 

0 Do you know why it was given in this case in the 

October 5th visit to the emergency room? 

A. I, I can't state for sure not having been the 

treating physician. 

in GI pain for the reasons I just stated. 

It is not an uncommon agent to be given 
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1 5  Dr. McCabe 

Q What i s  Demerol? 

A. Demerol is  a n a r c o t i c  a n a l g e s i c  agen t  g iven  for 

r e l i e f  of pa in .  

P Atropine  i s  n o t  a n a r c o t i c ?  

A. N o .  

Q What e f fec t  does Demerol have on a p e r s o n ' s  a b i l i t y  

t o  s i g n  o u t  a g a i n s t  medica l  advide?  

MR. DAPORE: Gbjec t icn .  You can qo ahead 

and answer,  if you can s t a t e  it i n  g e n e r a l .  

A. I n  g e n e r a l ,  a g a i n ,  t h e  main e f fec t  of Dernerol o r  

any narcotic a g e n t  i s  t o  r e l i e v e  pa in .  It c e r t a i n l y  can have 

a s e 2 a t i n g  e f f e c t  on p a t i e n t s  a s  well. 

Q. D o  you have an op in ion  i n  t h i s  case t o  a -r e a s o n a b l e  

degree  of medical  p r o b a b i l i t y  whether t h e  Denerol g iven  ?rs. 

Love t t  made h e r  incompetent  to s i g n  t h e  medical r e l e a s e  form? 

A. Y e s ,  I do. 

P Ifhat i s  your opinion?  

A. From review of t h e  m a t e r i a l s  t k a t  have been g iven  

t o  m e ,  my  op in ion  i s  t h a t  it d i d  n o t .  

Q What i s  your  opin ion  based on? 

A. My o p i n i o n  i s  based on t h e  review of d e p o s i t i o n s  

and o t h e r  materials t h a t  were given t o  m e  tirhich would s e e m  
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16 Dr. ElcCabe - 

to indicate from other's testimony that the patient appeared 

competent at the tirne that she signed tke 

left the hospital against medical advice. 

form and actuallj 

P Xhat facts are there in the record that leads you 

to believe she appeared competent? 

A. Specifically the testimony of Yurse Robinson that 

the patient appeared competent at the tire the form was siqned, 

appeared aware of the consequences of leaving, and d.id not 

seem to be impaired to the point that ske was unable to siqn 

the release form. 

P Did you read her testimony where she stated that 

it was inappropriate or against hospital procedure to have 

patients sign an A~Q- form after giving tkem Dernerol? 

MR. DAPORE: Objection. 

XI?. COAKLEY: Objection. 

FlR. DAPORE: I f  you want to qive a 

specific reference to the deposition page 

and the question and answer, you can repose 

the question. 

FIR. MELLINO: ??ell, I asked him if he was 

aware of that testimony. if that's not the 

testimony, then if he's not aware -- 

MR. COAXLEY: You arc? asking if he 
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19 D r .  McCabe 

remembers t h a t  t es t imony f r o m  t h e  d e p o s i t i o n  

of  Nurse Robinson? 

YR. NELLINO : Y e s .  

A. Could you r ephrase  t h e  q u e s t i o n ?  

Q. Sure.  D o  you remember Nurse Fobinson t e s t i f y i n q  

t h a t  it was a g a i n s t  h o s p i t a l  p rocedure  t o  have a p a t i e n t  

s i q n  an &Rfi% form a f t e r  being Fiven 2ernerol? 

A. I d o n ' t  remember t e s t i n o n ?  t h a t  there was, it was 

a q a i n s t  a s p e c i f i c  h o s p i t a l  p o l i c v  o r  p rocedure ,  no. 

Q. 

normally  

8. 

way, no. 

c. 

9 

A. 

D o  you remember h e r  s ay ing  it is n o t  somethin? they  

do? 

I d o n ' t  remep-ber i f  it was sair! i n  t5a t  p a r t i c u l a r  

What do you reqember h e r  sa:7inq abou t  it? 

MR. COAKLEY: OSg e c t i o n .  

MR. 5APORE: If you want t o  refer t o  t h e  

d e p o s i t i o n ,  you m a y  do so, Doctor.  You d o n ' t  

have t o  go -- 

Absolu te ly ,  i f  you want t o  r e f e r  t o  anyth ing  -- 
I would be happy t o  see i f  we can f i n d  a passage.  

MR. DAPORE: I f  you have a s p e c i f i c  

pas sage  you want t o  d i r e c t  the Doctor's 

a t t e n t i o n  t o ,  p l e a s e  do. 
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XI?. CGAKLEY: I d.on't t h i n k  i t  i s  f a i r  to 

make t h i s  a me;nory c o n t e s t  a s  t o  what t h e  

d e p o s i t i o n  s a y s .  

XI?. DAPORE: D o  you have a s p e c i f i c  passage 

FiR. MELLIMO : No. 

MR. CGAKLEY: Vel1 -- 

0. What do you remember h e r  say ing  about  q i v i n g  

Demerol? 

MR. DAPORE: H e ' s  n o t  going  to answer 

t h a t  q u e s t i o n  u n l e s s  you have a s p e c i f i c  

passage  t h a t  you want t o  r e f e r  him to .  I a m  

n o t  going t o  have him play t h e  r e c o l l e c t i o n  

garne of e v e r y t h i n g  t h a t  was con ta ined  w i t h i n  

h e r  d e p o s i t i o n .  

MR. XELLINO:  I asked if he  remembered 

h e r  sayinq  it was a g a i n s t  procedure.  l i e  s a i d  

n o t  s p e c i f i c a l l y .  

MR. DAPORE: T h a t ' s  no t  w h t  he t e s t i f i e d  

t o ,  t h a t  q u e s t i o n .  

_ _  MR. NELLINO: I t h h k  it was. I don'  t 

want t o  a rgue  a b c u t  what h i s  -- 

Q. Do you know what t h e  procedure  i s  at Geneva 

r i o s p i t a l  f o r  having p a t i e n t s  s i g n  o u t  a g a i n s t  medical  a d v i c e  
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D r .  MeCabe 

a f t e r  t h e  g i v i n g  of Demerol? 

A. N o .  I'm n o t  aware of t h  

a t  Geneva H o s p i t a l .  

p o l i c i e s  o r  proced 

1 9  

ires 

0- Is t h a t  somethino t h a t  you do a t  t h i s  h o s p i t a l ?  

A. A r e  you ask ing  i s  t h e r e  a s p e c i f i c  p o l i c y  w i t h  

r e g a r d s  t o  t h a t ?  

%I?. DAPORE: Objec t ion  t o  what p o l i c y  is 

se t  up i n  t h i s  h o s p i t a l .  I t  i s  i r r e l e v a n t  t o  

t h i s  case .  I t  does n o t  p u r p o r t  t o  be  a 

s t a n d a r d  of c a r e  f o r  t h e  care and t r e a t m e n t  

of p a t i e n t s .  And t o  t h a t  e x t e n t  I w i l l  t e l l  

him n o t  t o  answer t h e  q u e s t i o n .  

%R. NELLINO: I woulc? l i k e  t o  ask  him 

what he does.  

$52. DAPGRE: You c a n ' t ,  because  t h a t ' s  

n o t  t h e  s t a n d a r d ,  what he  does. 

xR. ?IELLIhTO: I t  i s  a d i scovery  d e p o s i t i o n .  

hlR. DAPORE: T h a t ' s  q u i t e  a l l  r i g h t ,  it 

i s  a d i scovery  Zepos i t ion .  But what 5e does 

or v h a t  t h i s  h o s p i t a l  does  is i n  no way 

r e l e v a n t  t o  t h i s  case .  

Nl?. MELLINO: C e r t a i n l y  it i s  evid-ence 

as  t o  t h e  s t a n d a r d  of care. 
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2 0  Dr. VcCabe 

MR. DAPORE: I t  i s n ' t  ev idence  a s  t o  t h e  

s t a n d a r d  of  care. 

I f  you want t o  ask  him -- 

That's t h e  s p e c i f i c  q u e s t i o n  

MI?. PIELLIN@: I f  -- 

PIP,. DAPORE: I f  you want t o  ask  him what 

h e  feels t h e  s t andard  of c a r e  is .  

W?. MELLINO: I may ask him l a t e r  on. I 

a m  a s k i n g  what he does.  

MR. DAPORE: E e  w 5 n ' t  answer t h a t  q u e s t i o n  

BY MR. YELLINO: 

Q. Do you have w r i t t e n  proced-ures i n  t h i s  h o s p i t a l  

concerning s i g n i n g  o u t  a g a i n s t  m e d i c a l  advice?  

MI?. DAPORE: Objec t ion .  You c a n  answer 

t h e  q u e s t i o n .  

t o  t 

A. 

a t .  

I b e l i e v e  t h e r e  i s  a w r i t t e n  p o l i c y  w i t h  r e g a r d s  

a D o e s  it allow a p a t i e n t  t o  s i g n  o u t  a g a i n s t  med-ical 

adv ice  a f t e r  b e i n g  g i v e n  Cenerol? 

A. 

t h a t  p o i n t .  

I d o n ' t  b e l i e v e  t h e  policl7 s p e c i f i c a l l y  a 6 d r e s s e s  

P I n  t h e  t i m e s  t h a t  you have signed o u t  a p a t i e n t  

a g a i n s t  medical a d v i c e ,  have you done it a f t e r  g i v i n g  Dernerol? 

A. YOU a r e  a s k i n g  m e  i f  a l l  t h e  p a t i e n t s  I have  e v e r  
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Dr. McCabe 2 1  

discharged in the last 10 years from an exrqency department, 

did any of them get Dernerol? 

Q. Not discharged, siqned out aqainst medical advice. 

A. Did any  of them have Demerol p r i o r  to their 

discharqe? That's a very difficult answer for me to DO back. 

MR. DAPORE: Only if you can recall. 

A. I cannot recall specifically any patients that had. 

P Your opinion is that there is noth.inT wronq w i t h  

giving Dernerol, then havinq a patient sign out against medical 

advice, Demerol in a dose of 75 milligrams? 

FIR. COARLEY: There are t w o  different 

questions on the table. Please -- 

YR. DAPORE: ~ That's Dot what he testified 

to. That' s the way you are f r a v i n g  the 

question as if he testified to that. If you 

want to rephrase the question and ask him if 

it is his opinion. 

MR. COARLEY: I also object on the basis 

that there are two questions bein9 asked of the 

dtoctor at the same the. First you asked if 

Dezerol generally, then you askecr? of a specific 

dosage. I think you should break the question 

d.own . 
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D r .  McCabe 2 2  

XR. !+lELLINO: A r e  you auys  done nok7? 

MR. QAPORE: UhT-hm. You asked a compound 

question. 

FP.. YELLINO: I was j u s t  c l a r i f y i n 9  what 

I rn-eant by D e m e r o l .  

MR. COAKLEY: Then t e l l  t h e  d o c t o r  you 

want -- :.,re can check,  t h e r e  were two Tues t ions .  

F i r s t  you asked about  Denerol q e n e r a l l v ,  t h e n  

vou asked about  ? 5  mq's. So -- 

MR.. MIELLIFO: I never  f i n i she r !  t h e  one  

q u e s t i o n .  

MR. COAKLEY: I'n o b j e c t i n q  because I 

t h i n k  t h e  q u e s t i o n  i s  unc lea r .  

MI?. MELLIPJC): I Fuess you want t o  spend 

t h e  aftesrrmon h e r e  i f  you want t o  o b j e c t  t o  

eve ry th ing .  

YR. COAKLEY: No. T h a t ' s  t h e  f i r s t  

o b j e c t i o n  I have had. 

BY MR. MELLINO: 

P Doctor, w h a t ' s  your  o p i n i o n  on t h e  u se  of Demerol 

i n  signing o u t  against medical  adv ice?  

A. A very  d - i f f i c u l t  q u e s t i o n  t o  answer. 1 t h i n k  i f  you 

go back t o  t h e  ground r u l e s  t h a t  I gave you for signing o u t  a 
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D r .  YcCabe 2 3  

p a t i e n t  a g a i n s t  medical  afivice,  it i s  a p p r o p r i a t e  t h a t  t h e y  

be competent t o  understand t h e  consequences of t h e i r  a c t i o n  

and be  appropriately able t o  understanc? tk. d i s e a s e  p r o c e s s  

t h a t  t h e y  have. 

Dernerol o r  something else which has  now a l t e r e d  the i r  a b i l i t y  

t o  unders tand and t o  comprehend t h e  consequences of t h e i r  

a c t i o n  makes t h e i r  d i s c h a r g e  a g a i n s t  medical a d v i c e  d i f f i c u l t  

g iven  t h e  ground r u l e s  t h a t  I gave you t o  5 e q i n  w i t h .  

And t o  t h a t  e x t e n t ,  any z iedica t ion  be it 

And i n  t h a t  c o n t e x t  it i s  ve ry  Z i f f i c u l t  f o r  m e  t o  

answer does  g i v i n g  drug X and i n  t h i s  dose make it i n a p p r o p r i a t  

t o  d i s c h a r g e  somebody. 

g i v i n g  m e  any i d e a  of t i m e  frame, i l l n e s s ,  competency t o  

unders tand which goes t o  my o r i g i n a l  d i s c u s s i o n  of aGains.fr. 

That  has noth ing  to 60,  you a r e  n o t  

medica l  advice .  That  r e a l l y  i s  t h e  crux of t h e  i s s u e .  

Q. Well, w e  can a g r e e  Dernerol a f f e c t s  a p e r s o n ' s  

a b i l i t y  t o  unders tand?  

A. I d o n ' t  t h i n k  I saic! t h a t .  

MR. COAKLEY: You d i d  no t .  

Q. I d i d n ' t  s ay  you s a i d  t h a t .  I s a i d  can  w e  a g r e e  

on t h a t ?  Apparent ly no t .  

A, Denerol i n  some p a t i e n t s  i n  s o ~ e  t i m e  frame may 

indeed a l t e r  a p a t i e n t ' s  menta l  s t a t u s ,  yes. 

Q. Idell, under what c i rcumstances  do you t h i n k  it a ters 
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I A. When a f t e r  cJiving it t h e i r  mental  s t a t u s  i s  I 

d i f f e r e n t  t h a n  p r i o r  t o  g i v i n g  it. 
I 

Q And what ev idence  i s  t h e r e  i n  t h i s  r e c o r d  t h a t  

h e r  m e n t a l  s t a t u s  d i d  not change? D o  you know what h e r  

mental  s t a t u s  was b e f o r e  t h e  g i v i n g  of t h e  Demerol? 1 
I 

A. N o t  havinq  seen  t h e  p a t i e n t ,  I d o n ' t  have t h a t .  

I have t h e  t e s t imony  of o t h e r s ,  s p e c i f i c a l l y ,  a q a i n ,  Nurse 

Robinson, t h a t  t h e  p a t i e n t  appeared t o  be  competent and a b l e  1 
t o  unders tand and s i g n  t h e  P a !  form i n  t h e  emergency department/  

I 
I 

a f t e r  having r e c e i v e d  a dose  of D e m e r o l .  i 

Q. T h a t ' s  t h e  o n l y  b a s i s  f o r  your  o p i n i o n  t h a t  t h e  

D e m e r o l  d i d  n o t  change h e r  o r  d i d  n o t  a f f e c t  h e r  a b i l i t y  t o  

comprehend i s  Nurse Robinson's  test imony? 

It I t h i n k  t h a t  and coupled wi th  a p r a c t i c e  e x p e r i e n c e  

which d o e s n ' t ,  I mean t h e r e  i s  a p r e v a i l i n g  o p i n i o n  t h a t  

once you have r e c e i v e d  D e m e r o l  or  something l i k e  t h a t  you 

are a u t o m a t i c a l l y  incompetent  and impaired.  

t h a t ' s  n o t  t h e  case. 

And c l i n i c a l l y ,  

0. Well, I assume you have some i d e a  what t h e  e f f e c t  

of Demerol would be  on a woman t h e  s i z e  and weight  of Mrs. 

Lovet t ?  

R I d o n ' t  know i f  I have h e r  s i z e  and weight .  
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D r .  McCaSe 2 5  

MR. DAPORE: From t h e  autopsy ,  it i n d i c a t e s  

135 pounds, 5 f e e t ,  7 i nches .  T h a t ' s  from t h e  

autopsy  r e p o r t .  

A. T h a t ' s  an a v e r a g e- b u i l t  person.  And c e r t a i n l y  t h e  

dose  of D e m e r o l  was n o t  e x c e s s i v e .  I mean t h i s  i s  a r e l a t i v e l y  

s t a n d a r d  s i z e  dose  for a pe r son  of h e r  s i z e .  

Q. All r i g h t .  Khen it was g iven  wi th  t h e  purpose -- 

do you know why it was q iven?  

A. I presume it w a s  g i v e n  t o  a l l e v i a t e  h e r  pa in .  

P D o  you know i f  it was s u c c e s s f u l  i n  doing t h a t ?  

A. I d o n ' t  know from read ing  t h e  m a t e r i a l s  t h a t  I have 

reviewed. 

Q And would a dose t h a t  s i z e  i n  t h a t  s i z e  pe r son  

have any e f f e c t  on t h e i r  a b i l i t y  t o  unders tand?  - 

A. What you a r e  a s k i n g  ne t o  s a y  i s  an always o r  a 

never .  And I t h i n k  t h a t ' s  imposs ib le  t o  say. 

P. 

unders tand?  

So it could  have had an e f f e c t  on h e r  a b i l i t y  t o  

A. I t  c e r t a i n l y  might n o t  have. 

Q But it could  have? 

A. I t  i s  p o s s i b l e  t h a t  i n  a dose f o r  t h a t  person 

it might  have had an  e f f e c t  on h e r  mental  s t a t u s ,  yes .  ---J 
Q. A r e  you aware of tes t imony of  both S u r s e  Eobinson 
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and ?Ir .  Love t t  t h a t  she  s l i p p e d  o r  f e l l  when s h e  came o u t  of 

t h e  bathroom t h a t  n i g h t ?  

A. I b e l i e v e  t h e  recorPl shows t h a t  she  n e a r l y  s l i p p e d  

and s h e  d i d  n o t  f a l l ,  if memory serves m e  c o r r e c t l y .  

P That s h e  s l i p p e d  and n e a r l y  f e l l .  Do you t h i n k  

t h e  Demerol had anyth ing  t o  do wi th  t h a t ?  

A. I t h i n k  it i s  impossible for m e  t o  t e l l  from t h e  

review of t h e  recorc?s. 

Q Is it a p p r o p r i a t e  w i t h i n  t h e  s t a n d a r d  of c a r e  t o  

i n v o l v e  a fami ly  mm.ber i n  t h e  decis io,n t o  s i g n  o u t  a g a i n s t  

medica l  advice?  

A. I t h i n k  t h e r e  3ay  be tirres when t h a t ' s  a p p r o p r i a t e .  

I d o n ' t  t h i n k  it i s  t h e  s t anZar6  of care t h a t  it has t o  be 

done i n  every  case .  

Q What about i n  t h i s  c a s e ?  

A. Aqain, I t h i n k  t h e  t i m e s  when it i s  a p p r o n r i a t e  

are when t h e  phys ic ian  feels t h e  p a t i e n t  needs t o  s t a y ,  

cannot  convince t h e  p a t i e n t  of t h a t ,  t hen  it i s  a p p r o p r i a t e  

t o  use  whatever means are  a v a i l a b l e  t o  you as a p h y s i c i a n  

i f  you fee l  stronqly enough a b c u t  an admission t o  q e t  t h a t  

p a t i e n t  t o  stay. 

a p p r o p r i a t e .  

Q 

And c e r t a i n l y  involvement of f m i l y  i s  

K e r e n ' t  those c i rcums tances  p r e s e n t  h e r e ?  
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D r .  McCabe 

A. I t h i n k  so,  ye s .  

Q. So it would have been a p p r o p r i a t e  for D r .  Conant 
k 

t o  invo lve  t h e  husband i n  t h e  d e c i s i o n ?  

R What I q u e s s  t h e  q u e s t i o n  i s  -- x?rhat 20 you mean by 

involve?  

Q 

A. I d o n ' t  b e l i e v e  so. 

Well, should  he have had h i m  s i p  the P ~ J S +  f o r m ?  

Q. Should he  have exp la ined  t h e  6iacrnosis  t o  him? 

A. I t h i n k  it is a p r o p r i a t e  f o r  farnily n e r b e r s  t o  

understand d iagnoses ,  t o  understand t h e  wishes  of t h e i r  

fami ly  member, and t o  unzers tand t h e  consequences of t h e i r  

a c t i o n .  

Where i s  t h a t  Z.ocuqented i n  t h e  r e c o r d  t h a t  D r .  e. 
Conant d i d  t h a t ?  

A. I d o n ' t  b e l i e v e  it i s  s p e c i f i c a l l y  6ocamented i n  

t h e  emergency depar tment  r ecord  t h a t  I can, t h a t  I a m  aware 

o f .  

MR. COAKLEV: B y  t h e  r e c o r d s ,  a r e  you 

r e f e r r i n g  t o  t h e  r e c o r d s  he reviewez? 

:!z. YELLINO: No, I was r e f e r r i n q  t o  t h e  

h o s p i t a l  r ecord .  And you can f e e l  f r e e  t o  

review them i f  you l i k e .  

MR. DAPORE: You mean a d i r e c t  r e f e r e n c e  
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to a conversation Kith Pr. Lovett himself, 

is that what you are asking? 

MR. MELLINO: I am askinc where it is 

reflected in the record that the diaanosis 

was explained to Xr. Lovett. 

A. I don't believe it is. 

P Is it reflected anywhere in the record that the 

diagnosis was explained to Mrs. Lovett? 

A. I believe it is both in the record itself where it 

states patient advised admission and also in the release form 

which states that I acknowledge that I have been informe6 of 

the risk involved and hereby release attendinq physician, 

et cetera. - 

Q Well, what is it a risk of that's being warned of 

in there, in the AX& form? 

A. Well, I can only presume that the cjliagnosis and 

the associated risks of leavinq the hospital were explained 

to the patient. 

every potential complication of leavina aqainst medical 

ac?vice as those complications vary dependinq upon the reason 

that someone is requesting athission. 

Clearly one can't have a form that covers 

fx Well, shouldn't that be reflected in the chart then? 

A. Shouldn't what? 
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Q. That  t h e  r i s k s  w e r e  e x p l a i n e d  t o  h e r .  

MR. DAPORE: Ob jec t ion .  H e  j u s t  answered 

t h a t  it i s  on t h e  f a c e  s h e e t  and i n  t h e  form 

i t s e l f  s h e  s igned .  

XI?. MELLIYO: Not what t h e  r i s k s  w e r e .  

MI?. DADORE: D o  you want t o  read  t h a t  

aga in?  

A. I acknowle6ge t h a t  I have been informed of t h e  r i s k  

involved. 

€3 Right .  TlJhat does  t h a t  mean? 

A. That  I acknowledge t h a t  I have Seen informed of t h e  

r i s k  involved.  

a 
A. 

a 

P 

What's t h e  r i s k ?  ~ 

The r i s k  of l e a v i n g  a q a i n s t  medical advice .  

Y e s .  But what i s  i t ?  Is it dea th ,  what i s  -- 

MR. COFXLEY: You are being a r y m e n t a t i v e  

wi th  him now, C h r i s .  

FIR. P'ELLINO: I thouoht  I would j o i n  i n  

wi th  you quys.  

What 's  t h e  r i s k  t h a t  s h e ' s  being warned a g a i n s t ?  

MR. DADORE: Is it s p e c i f i c a l l y  enumerated, 

each inc? iv idual  r i s k ?  Is t h a t  t h e  q u e s t i o n  

you are a s k i n 9  t h e  r?octor? 

ACHINE 424 UNIVERSITY BLDG. 

SYRACUSE. N E W  YORK 13202 

( 3 1  5 )  422-3990 

(3 1 5 )  422-3995 

F PnRT i \IC CP r\ I i m  



- 
1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11  

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

___ 

D r .  McCabe 30 

MR. MELLINO : NO. 

P D o  you unders tand t h e  a u e s t i o n ?  

A. NO * 

Q 

n i q h t ?  

What was t h e  r i s k  of her l e a v i n q  t h e  h o s p i t a l  t h a t  

MR. DAPORE: i?ased on what? 

51. Based upon h e r  cond i t ion .  

MP.. DAPORE: Foes t h a t  h e l p  you answer 

t h e  v u e s t i o n ?  
--.a_l___l 

A. Based on my review of t h e  medical r e c o r d ,  t h e r e  

are zany r i s k s  a s s o c i a t e d  w i t h  h e r  Leaving and a t e n t a t i v e  

d i a g n o s i s  t h a t  was p laced  h e r e ,  c e r t a i n l y  fever, vomit in?,  

dehydra t ion ,  a worsening abdominal c o n 2 i t i o n  2nd p o t e n t  

fcr dea th .  

Q. And those r i s k s  are no t  s p e l l e d  c u t  anywhere i n  

t h e  c h a r t :  an I c o r r e c t  i n  t h a t ?  

A. I d o n ' t  see t h o s e  r i s k s  s p e c i f i c a l l y  enumerated 

i n  t h e  c h a r t .  

Q And t h e  r i s k  of dea th  would c e r t a i n l y  be g r e a t e r  

t h a n  t h e  r i s k  of a f e v e r ;  would t h a t  Se c o r r e c t ?  

A. What do you mean by q r e a t e r ?  ~ ' n  n o t  s u r e .  

Q. More l i f e - t h r e a t e n i n q ?  

R C e r t a i n l y .  
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31. Dri McCabe 

(r Would it have been appropriate for  the risks that 

were told to the patient, the actual risks of her leavinq 

the hospital, would it have been appropriate f o r  those to 

have been recorded in the chart? 

A. If you are asking me if every risk that was 

explained to the patient should be written specifically on 

the chart, I don't think that's a?propriate. 

What about the major risks? Q. 

A. I think the Fhysician's attemp is to document 

he advised admission, to explain to the patient, and if the 

patient is competent, to have the patient sign stating they 

have been informed and they understand the risk. I think 

that's appropriate. 

P Well, you have already told me there is a lot more 

involvec? in signing out against medical advice than just 

being advised of admission; isn't that riqht? You said the 

patient has to be aware of the diagnosis and have an 

appreciation of the risks? 

A. Yes, that's correct. 

P There is nothing in this chart to tell us that 

Mrs. Lovett uncierstoo:! what the diaqnosis was or what the 

specific risks of her leaving t he  hospital that night were, 

her diagnosis -- 
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Dr. FIcCabe 32 

MR. DAPORE: Objection. He already 

testified to that, that there is documentation. 

I said of the specific risks. 

MR. DAPORE: He already testified to 

that as well. 

Can you answer the question, Doctor? 

Would you repeat the auestion? 

Sure. Is there anything in the chart that reflects 

that Mrs. Lovett was advised of the specific risks of leavina 

the hospital with her condition on October 5th? 

A. And by specific you mean a list of the myriad of 

things that could potentially happen to her? 

P Well, the risks you have enumerated fo r  me earlier, 

the risk of the worsening abdominal condition, death? 

A. Those items are n o t  specifically listed! on the 

chart. 

0 So you don’t know whether she was told of those 

risks or not? 

MR. DAPURE: Objection. He can’t make 

that judgment. 

A. I can’t answer whether she was specifically informed, 

of what individual risks she might have been informed of. 

P You just don’t know: do you? 
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Dr. McCabe 33 

R Of the specific items that were told to her? 

Q. Right. 

A. No 

D You don't know whether she was told what her I 

diagnosis was; do you? 
2 

A. I only know what was told to her through the 

deposition of others who were involved in telling her. 

0. Well, is there anything in Nurse Robinson's 

deposition that said she was informed of the specific risks 

of her condition, of leaving with her condition? 

R I believe Nurse Robinson testified that the specific 

diaqnosis was told to her, and not in a sDecific manner, but 
1 

in general terms they did discuss the risks of leaving. I 

don't remember that real specifics of every potential complica-r 

tion were listed in Nurse Robinson's deposition either. I 
I 

(r What is cholecystitis? 

R It is inflammation of the gall bladder. 

I That's what they thought her condition was when i 
1 D 

she was in the hospital? 

A. That's correct. 

P In the emergency room? 

A, During the visit of 10/5/86. I 
1 1 

And it turned out that wasn't her condition; correct?/ I I 
Q. 
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34 Dr. McCabe 

A. Correct, from the autopsy report that was not. 

Q f take it that her, the physical findings on the 

October 5th admission were consistent with other diacjnoses? 

MR. DAPORE: D o  You understand the 

quest ion? 

THE WITNESS: No. 

A. If you would repeat -- 

Q. Were the physical findings in the emergency room 

on October 5th consistent with other diagnoses besides the 

one made? 

A. Given the, j u s t  physical exam findings, yes, they 

are consistent with other diagnoses. 

Q What other diagnoses? - 

A. Ulcer disease, pancreatitis, gastritis, probably 

the major diagnoses to consider. 

MR. DAPORE: Is that in alidition to the 

cholecystitis? 

THE FJITNESS: In addition to cholecystitis, 

yes. I ' m  sorry, I thought the question was in 

addition to. 

Q. What about peritonitis, would that be consistent 

with that? 

A. I don't think the exam findings on 10/5 are consisten 
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D r .  McCabe 3 5  

with peritonitis. 

Q A r e  they inconsistent with peritonitis? 

A. Yes. 

Q You could rule out peritonitis based on those 

findings? 

A. Peritonitis generally presents with an abdomen 
--c----c __=I_ 

that's rigid, extremely tender, rebound tenderness. There 

are many findings that are not present here that would 

suggest the diagnosis of peritonitis. So I don't believe 

the patient had peritonitis. 

_----- r 

P Could you rule out peritonitis based upon the 

physical findings contained in the chart or would you need 

to do more -- ~ 

A No. I think you could rule it out by the, on the 

basis of physical exam findings in this chart. 

Q Do you have an opinion as to when the perforation 

occurred? 
L 

A. Yes, I believe it occurred at sometime following I 
I 

/ this visit of 10/5 /86 .  

Q. When do you think it occurred? 

A. There is no way  to be sure of the time. But my 

best estimate would be at the time when she became more 

and then exhibited, 
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Dr. NcCabe 36 

or findings more consistent with ruptured 

nitis. 

p. What were the symptoms that were consistent with 

the ruptured viscus? 

A. An acute worsening of her pain which Mr. Lovett 

describes as sometime more in the middle of the night. 

Q You believe that his testimonv was there was an \ 
1 
\ 
\ acute worsening of pain sometime in the night? 

A. A s  I recall, at one point the patient screamed out, 

becane more uncomfortable, I believe, and became unresponsive 

shortly thereafter. 

p. Is it appropriate to give narcotics when somebody 

presents in the emergency room with abdominal pain of unknown 

etiology? 

A. We are talkinq about a patient with no diagnosis 

or no potential diagnosis, is that -- 

Q Yes e 

R SO you are asking if it is inappropriate to give 

Dernerol to someone when you have no idea what might be causing 

their abdominal pain? 

Q Right. 

A. I think until one has an understand.ing of at least 

a differential diagnosis of probable causes, yes, it is 
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37 Dr-. McCabe 

inappropriate to give Dernerol. 

0 It is inappropriate to give Demerol? 

R 

the patient. 

When you have no idea what is, what is wrong with 

Once a patient has been examined and you have 

some idea, there are certain conditions when Demerol is 

appropriate. 

Q. 'Why is it inappropriate to give it? 

R Why is it inappropriate to give it? 

Q. Right. - 

A. Because there are some acute surgical conditions \ 

which will require going to the operating room riqht away 

where it might interfere with other medications that would 

need to be given paraoperatively, that is around the time 

of the operation. Until one has a feeling for what's wrong 

or potentially might be wrong with a patient, you don't want 

to make their pain 90 away, because it may make it more 

difficult for you to arrive at a set of differential diagnoses. 

P Can Demerol mask symptoms of what you nay be looking 

fo r?  

A. Demerol takes pain away. And it may alter the pi/ 
/ 

/ pattern in a patient. 

Q. And makes it more difficult to diaqnose? 

A. If the diagnosis that you are relying upon includes 
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38 Dr. McCabe 

the pattern and the change in their pain, it may make it more 

difficult, because it may alter the natural course of pain 

in that patient. 

Q. All right. And do you feel it was appropriate 

for Dorothy Lovett to get Demerol on the October 5th 

admission or emergency room visit? 

A. It is appropriate from the point of view of a 

patient with pain with a probable diaqnosis of acute 

cholecystitis for Demerol to be given for pain relief. 

Q. When was the Demerol given? 

A. According to this emergency department record, 

it was administered at 7 : 4 0  p.m. 

0. Was that before or after she saw Dr. Conant? 

A. I don't know that I have any indication in the 

record from which I can make a judgment. 

MR. DAPORE: For the record, this is a l l  

his handwriting. 

Q You don't know? 

A. I can't tell. I mean there are no times for me to 

understand. I don't have a copy. 

THE WITNESS: Is that the complete 

emergency department record? 

MR. DAPORE: Yes. Those are his reeorccs, 
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39 Dr. McCabe 

And those are the times taken off by the nurse 

at which they were given or which they were 

done. 

A. The only thing that would lead me to say that was 

after is there is atropine given at 7:lO and presumably that's 

written as a physician order. 

unlikely that that was given prior to examination. 

I think it would be extremely 

So at 7 : 3 0  I would have, 7 :40  I would have to assume 

the patient had been seen by Dr. Conant. 

S o  you are assuming that the Demerol was given after p 

the patient already had been exmined bv Dr. Conant? 

A. Yes. 

Q Would it have been inappropriate to give it before 

he examined her? 

A. Would it be inappropriate to qive Demerol prior to 

the examination of a patient in the emerqency department, yes. 

P I'm sorry, you probably answered this before. But 

what in the physical findings on the admission or the emerqency 

room visit on October 5th would cause you to rule out periton- 

, itis? 

I 

I 

~ 

I 

A. The abdomen is flat. Actually the major things are 
I 

the description which really does not describe what we call an 

acute surgical abdomen, which is an abdomen which is tense with 
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Dr. McCabe 4 0  

rebound tenderness, typically peristalsis would be absent in 

peritonitis. So this description is not of someone with 
A-- - 

peritonitis. 

P Okay. You would look for somebody with a distended 

abdomen? 

R Not necessarily. Sometimes it will be distended, 

sometimes not, depending on the etiology of peritonitis. 

P How long does it take for the abdomen to become 

distended after the perforation occurs? 

R The abdomen would not necessarily become extended 

just from a perforation. There are many causes .  It is 

simply an inflammation of the inside of the abdomen. 

e How was it caused in this case? 

A. You mean how w a s  it caused as evidenced at the time 

of her death? 

Q Yes. Is that something different than -- 

MR. DAPORE: You are asking him a couple 

of different questions. 

P Answer the first one. 

MR. DAPORE: Rephrase the question, please. 

P How was it caused, the peritonitis? 

A. Peritonitis at the time of her autopsy was 

secondary to rupture of an ulcer, and I don't remember the 
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Dr. McCabe 41 

exact location of it, duodenal ulcer. 

9 And are you differentiating that? I don't understand 

the reason fo r  your distinction of that. 

I understand your distinction for pointinq to the 

Is that your opinion as to the cause of peritonitis autopsy. 

in this case? 

A. I'm not sure I understand the question, 

fx I asked you what the cause of peritonitis was. 

A. The only way I can make a judgment as to the cause 

of peritonitis is through the autopsy record. 

Q. Okay. 

A. At the time of autopsy, she had peritonitis, which 

was presumed to be secondary to a rupture of a duodenal ulcer. 

Q And you-have no reason to dispute that? 

A. I have not seen the autopsy. I have just the 

records to review. I can't dispute that. 

Q. Did she have symptoms of peritonitis from the visit 

\ to the emergency room on October 4th? 

A. Syrnptoms of peritonitis are very non-specific. 

Abdominal pain is a symptom of peritonitis. So in that broad 

sense, yes.  Abdominal. pain is one of the symptoms of 

peritonitis. i' 
On the other hand she did not have physical findings 
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that were consistent with the diaqnosis of peritonitis. 

Q. Were they inconsistent with the diaqnosis of 

peritonitis? 

R I think I have already testified that they were. 

MR. COAXLEY: You are talking about 

October 4th. 

MR. XELLINO: The first visit. 

A. No. I believe she had no symptoms consistent with 

peritonitis. 

Q. On October 4th? 

k On the October 4th visit to Geneva Hospital. 

Q. What's the mortality rate for somebody that is 

diagnosed as having perforated viscus? 

MR. DAPORE: Under what circumstances, 

for how long? 

MR. MELLINO: If he needs those qualifica- 

tions, he can certainly ask. 

A. I can't answer, Perforated viscus is a very 

general term. Depends upon the viscus that's ruptured, the 

acuteness of its rupture, the patient's aqe, underlying 

medical condition. It is impossible for me to make a mortality 

figure for you. 

Q. Is it something that's usually diaunosed fairly 
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quickly? 

A. You are speaking specifically of what entity, 

ruptured viscus? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Again, ruptured viscus is qenerally, yes, an acute 

presentation that is relatively easily recognized. 

Q. Do you know what the mortality rate is for someone 

who is operated on for a perforated viscus? 

A. No, I don't. Aqain, I think it is, I mean it is 

I impossible to give you a number based on that question. 

think there are so many other variable factors. 

Q. Do you have an opinion as to a reasonable degree 

of medical probability whether Dorothy Lovett needed surgery 

when she presented at the emergency room on October 5th? 

A. At the time of the visit to the emergency department 

on October 5 t h ,  there is nothing that I can see in the record 

that would have necessitated immediate surgery, if that's the 

question. 

Q. Do you have an opinion as to what her condition 

was on October 5th when she presented at the emergency room? 

MR. DAPGRE: How do you mean that, 

retrospectively, prospectively? Which one, 

prospectively or retrospectively. 
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NR. MELLINO: He was not there. S o  it 

would have to be retrospectively. 

A. I'm not sure. Maybe you would have to explain to 

me what you mean by condition. I have reviewec? the records. 

So I have an opinion of what was written that she looked like. 

I'm not sure what you mean by condition. 

Q. Well, we know that she didn't have cholecystitis 

which was the diagnosis at that time. 

A. We know in retrospect following an autopsy that she 

didn't have cholecystitis. 

of cholecystitis was inappropriate at the time of her admission 

That's not to say that diagnosis 

P I didn't say it was. And you testified earlier that 

in your opinion she didn't have a perforation at that time? 

A. Correct. 

Q. SO I guess I ' m  askin9 you what her condition was at 

that time. 

A. By condition you mean the specific disease entity 

that might have caused her to come to the emerqency department? 

P Yes. 

A. I think certainly given the history and phvsical 

exam findings that are present on the chart, that a diacposis 

of acute cholecystitis is appropriate. 

Q. You think that's the disease process that brought 
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Dr. McCabe 45 

her to the emergency room on October 5th? 

A. You are askin9 a very difficult Question, because 

in retrospect with the review of the autopsy records I know 

it is not the disease entity that caused her to come. So how 

do you want me to answer it? 

Q I said retrospectively. It should be an easy 

question to answer. 

MR. DAPORE: No, it is not. 

A. I think I have already answered. 

MR. DAPORE: He answered the question. 

And I’m going to instruct him not to answer 

again. 

MR. MELLINO: He answered what question? 

P Of whether cholecystitis was a disease process 

that brought her to the emergency room on October 5th? 

MR. DAPORE: He feels that it was an 

appropriate diagnosis based upon some records. 

NR. MELLINO: I never asked him that 

question. 

MR. DAPORE: You did ask him the question. 

You have asked him what the autopsy contains 

as far as a cause of death. And the cause of 

death is listed in the autopsy as a perforated 
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duodenal ulcer. 

MR. MELLINO: Tony, we can spend the whole 

afternoon here if you are going to keep 

interrupting and testifying. 

the question that I asked him. 

He didn't answer 

MR. DAPORE: He's told you what's in the 

autopsy. He told you what's in the records. 

Now he can't tell you anything different 

between the two. 

MR. MELLINO: Be already said that 

cholecystitis was not the disease or -- 

MR. DAPORE: He said cholecystitis in 

retrospect is not what she had when she came 

into the hospital on-October 5th. That's 

what he's testified to. 

MR. BIELLINO: Then I asked what disease 

brought her there. He said cholecystitis. He 

said it was not an inappropriate diaqnosis 

based on the records. In answer to my question 

of what the disease process was that brought 

her, he didn't answer my question. 

MI?. DAPORE: Perhaps you should rephrase 
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answered then .  

MR. MELLINO: W e l l ,  I d o n ' t  unders tand 

why he c a n ' t  answer t h e  q u e s t i o n .  

MR, DAPORE: Rephrase your q u e s t i o n .  

BY MR. MELLINO: 

Q What w a s  t h e  d i s e a s e  p rocess  t h a t  brought  Dorothy 

L o v e t t  t o  t h e  emergency room on October 5 t h ?  

A. I n  r e t r o s p e c t  knowing t h e  r e s u l t s  of t h e  autopsy 

which showed t h a t  t h e  p a t i e n t  had an  u l c e r  which a t  some p o i n t  

p r ior  t o  h e r  d e a t h  p e r f o r a t e d ,  it c e r t a i n l y  i s  p o s s i b l e  t h a t  

t h e  p a i n  s h e  was exper i enc ing  a t  t h e  t i m e  of t h e  v i s i t  of 

10/5 w a s  p a i n  secondary t o  a duodenal u l c e r .  

Q. And i f  an  e l e c t r o l y t e  s t u d y  had been done or  

t empera tu re  been t a k e n  o r  a blood coun t  been t aken  or  

o r t h o s t a t i c  p u l s e  change taken,  would t h o s e  have a s s i s t e d  

i n  makina a d i a g n o s i s  of p a i n  secondary t o  a duodenal u l c e r ?  

MR. COAKLEY: Could w e  have t h o s e  l i s t e d  

a g a i n  o r  j u s t  r e p e a t  them? Would you repeat 

t h e  q u e s t i o n  for m e ,  please? 

(Whereupon, t h e  pending q u e s t i o n  was read 

back by t h e  Court  Repor te r . )  

MR. COAKLEY: Thank you. 

A. Maybe we can take  them one a t  a t i m e  r a t h e r  than  a l l  
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at once. It seems silly to answer the question yes or no. 

If the question is would any of these have assisted 

the emergency physician in making a diagnosis of pain secondary 

to a duodenal ulcer, electrolytes, no, CBC, probably not. 

You may have to read back to me. 

0. Temperature. 

A. Temperature, no. Patients with duodenal ulcers 

alone with pain have no reason to have altered temperatures, 

If one expected the patient to be severely dehydrated, perhaps 

that may have, orthostatics would allow you to determine that 

easily. Doesnft differentiate dehydration from volume loss 

such as not eatinq or drinking well or f r o m  that associated 

with blood loss. ~ 

And there are things in the record which would make 

us not suspect an acute blood loss such as the fact there was 

no melanin, no hematemesis is found in the blood. 

9 Are there any indications in the record she was 

dehydrated? 

A. Does say that mucus membranes were dry. But then 

it is, it also states skin turqor was good. S o  that really 

in some ways is kind of a conflicting piece of information. 

Mucus membranes can often be dry L'rom many things. But if a 

patient becomes dehydrated, generally the skin turgor becomes 
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also not so good. 

P Well, if it is conflicting, would it have been 

helpful to do more tests? 

A. Well, with skin turgor being good, you know, it is 

less likely that the patient's truly dehydrated. 

Q. But you just don't know from this physical finding 

there? 

A. Well, it is, again, mucus membranes dry is a 

subjective view. And so it is not exactly clear what that 

means. 

At the same time the patient's pulse was not 

elevated, which one might expect if a patient was severely 

dehydrated. 

Patient might be somewhat hypotensive. S o  there 

are, patient had not been vomiting. 

So there is really no reason to suspect severe 

dehydration based upon the rest of the history and other 

physical exam findings. 

Q. Would the electrolyte study and temperature and 

CEC and orthostatic pulse change been helpful in diagnosing 

the condition if the ulcer had already ruptured? 

MR. DAPORE: You have asked a different 

question now. You said changes in those, 
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changes in what? 

MR. MELLINO: I didn't say changes. 

MR. DAPORE: I believe your question 

was if those changed, would they be helpful 

in diagnosing if it was a perforated viscus. 

I don't know if that's what you meant to ask 

or not. But if it is, the change from what? 

MR. MELLINO: Why don't you read the 

question back. 

(Whereupon, the pending question was read 

back by the Court Reporter.) 

MR. DAPORE: You did ask  changes. 

MR. MELLINO: Orthostatic pulse change, 

same thing I asked in the earlier question. 

NR. DAPORE: I thought you were grouping 

them all together. 

MR. MELLINO: You are interrupting. You 

are not listening. 

MR. COAKLEY: It was a fair clarification. 

MR. MELLINO: Nothing had to be clarified. 

MR. DAPORE: You did, the way you asked 

the question, the way that question came out 

is you were lmmping them all together. 
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Dr. McCabe 51 

MR. MELLINO: I a m  still lumping them 

all together. 

MR. DAPORE: A s  changes in all of them. 

MR. COAKLEY: Why don't you ask it again, 

Chris, please. 

MR. MELLINO: Fine. Do you want to 90 

back, I will ask every one of the questions 

again. 

BY MR. MELLINO: 

Q. Do you know what the uuestion is, Doctor? 

A. No 

MR. MELLIMO: G o  ahead and read the 

question back. 

(Whereupon, the pending question was read 

back by the Court Reporter.) 

A. The question is if the patient had come to the 

emergency department with a perforated ulcer at the time that 

they had been there, would any of those tests have helped? 

f think -- 

F Helped make the diagnosis of 

A. No. Probably the only thing 

seen would have been some non-specific 

blood cell count, again, not necessari 

perforated ulcer? 

that one might have 

elevation in the white 

y diagnostic of anythin 
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But would the elevated -- what did you say, white 

uhm-hmm. 

Would that have prompted an emergency room doctor 

in the standard of care to do more tests to determine 

why the blood count was elevated? 

R Blood count is a very non-specific test. Can be 

elevated in qastritis, can be elevated in cholecystitis. And 

I don't think given the clinical picture here which is 

certainly consistent with cholecystitis it would necessarily 

have prompted any other study. 

Q. Would the temperature have been elevated? 

A. In the very late stages of peritonitis it certainly 

is possible that the temperature might either be elevated 

or, in fact, be low in some patients. 

P What would have been the purpose of admitting 

Dorothy Lovett to the hospital? 

A. This is a patient who now in the course of three 

days has had three emergency department or clinic and 

emergency department visits for abdominal pain. At this 

point in time the patient is still complaining of apparently 

significant abdominal pain, has a presumed diagnosis of acute 

cholecystitis. 
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53 Dr. McCabe 

admission would have been for I.V. hydration 

r furth r diagnostic workup to try to determine whether 

that was, in fact, the etiology of her pain. 

Q Couldn't the I.v. hydration therapy been done while 

she was in the emergency room? 

A. It could have certainly been started while she was 

in the emergency room. But again, the main purpose of 

admitting to the hospital would have been fo r  diagnostic 

evaluation. 

Q Couldn't more of a diagnostic evaluation have taken 

place in the emergency room? 

A. If one is using a working diagnosis of cholecvstitis, 

the studies that are required are not available in every 

emergency department, The studies are ultrasound of the 

gall bladder, perhaps gall bladder series, upper GI series. 

These are things that are not routinely available in the 

emergency department. 

Q. DO you know if they were available at Geneva 

Memorial Hospital on October 5th? 

A. I don't know specifically. But I think it is fair 

to say that the average nontertiary care hospital does not 

have those diagnostic studies immediately available. 

In addition, many of those tests are studies which 
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a patient needs to be prepared to get an optimal study. 

And so they logistically cannot be done in the emergency 

department. 

F But you don't know whether they could have been 

done here in this case? 

R I don't know specifically. 

p Wouldn't that be important in terns of renderinq 

an opinion in this case? 

A. Well, again, I have stated that I think it is 

fair given the size and the nature of, I mean this hospital 

not being a tertiary referral hospital, that most of those 

would not be available. And again, most of these studies 

are not available because of the fact patients do need to be 

properly prepped in order to have the studies done. S o  sub- 

optimal studies are obtained if you try to get them without 

any advance preparation of the patient. 

P What kind of preparation needs to be done? 

R Often patients are NPO, that's nothinq to eat by 

mouth overnight. Bowels are cleaned for many radiologic 

studies in order to get rid of gas and stool that interferes 

with the study. 

If I can back up one second, I have a vague 

recoliection, and I don't remember which deposition it is in, 
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Dr. McCabe 5 5  

of a discussion, maybe it is in Nurse Robinson's, a discussion 

about the fact that those studies would not be available until 

probably the Monday morning. I believe, maybe it is in Nurse 

Robinson's deposition. 

But I would have to go back and find the specific 

passage. 

Q- Are you aware of whether she c o u l d  have been 

transferred to another hospital to have these diagnostic 

studies done? 

R I ' m  not aware of the transferral guidelines or 

arrangements of this particular hospital. 

P Would that have been something that could have been 

done? 

R I think these are, the studies that I have just 

listed f o r  you, ultrasound, gall bladder series, upper GI, 

which would have been the logica thing to do, these are 

things that are done at nearly every hospital. And I mean 

they are not tests that are, patients are routinely trans- 

ferred for. 

P Well, apparently there are some hospitals that 

don't do them on Sunday or Saturday night, and some that do? 

A. Vast majority of hospitals I would say don't. 

Q So if the patient cones in with this kind of 
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condition on Saturday night, they have to wait until Eonday 

to be diagnosed? 

A. In some hospitals that's probably true. Aqain, 

not because nobody wants to do it, some of it is because of 

patient preparation. And some is because these are not 

diagnostic studies which generally are done acutely, because 

they are not for conditions which need to be acutely diagnosed 

in that sense. 

Q You don't think that was a case that needed to be 

acutely diagnosed? 

MR. DAPORE: Objection. That's 

argumentative. 

question. 

If you want to rephrase the 

MR. MELLINO: No, I don't. 

Q Do you want to answer it? 

A. No. 

Q Was it important f o r  her to have diagnostic studies 

done to determine what her condition was on October Sth, 

would have the diagnosis made that niuht? 

you 

MR. DAFORE: In terms of what, what was 

known when she came into the emergency room 

on October 5th? 

MR. MELLINO: Well, I think we know in 
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retrospect what it was. 

at was known on October 5th? 

MR. DAPORE: Based on what's here on 

this emergency room record? 

Q Based on what her condition was when she came in 

on October 5th. 

A. Given the information I have on the E.R.  record of 

the 5th and findings consistent with the acute cholecystitis, 

I don't think there is a need to emergently in the middle of 

the night obtain any of the studies I have just listed as far 

as further diagnostic workup. 

Q. It was not in the middle of the night though when 

she came in; was it? 

R I will rephrase it. 

o'clock at night. 

Q When she came in it 

At 9 o'clock at night, 8 

ras 7 o'clock; wasn't it? 

A. Okay, at 7 o'clock at niqht. One has to build into 

the scenario that patient evaluation is not instantaneous. 

So she's there at 7 o'clock, a certain amount of time has to 

transpire €or evaluation. 

Q. Sure. But it certainly was not the middle of the 

night? 

MR. DAPORE: Is t h a t  a question? 
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A. No, it wasn't the middle of the night. I misspoke. 

P WOU d an abdominal X-ray have assisted in the 

diagnosis of pain secondary tu a duodenal ulcer? 

MR. COAXLEY: What time, please. 

Q. 7 o'clock, October 5th, 1986. 

A. In a patient with duodenal ulcer, with pain secondarl 

to duodenal ulcer, an X-ray would not help in the diaanosis. 

P In this patient we are talkinq though, at least 

that's what I want tu ask. 

A. In this patient at the time of her emergency 

department evaluation, I don't believe an abdominal X-ray 

would have aided in the diagnosis. 

P O f ?  

A. Of either acute cholecystitis or peptic ulcer 

disease. 

P What about if the ulcer perforated previously -0 

her arriving at the emergency room? 

A. In a patient who has a perforated viscus, abdominal 

X-rays will be helpful in that the free air which has escaped 

from the viscus will be obvious on the examination. 

Q. So it would have assisted then the diagnosis? 

MR. DAPORE: Objection. That's not what 

he said. That's not the question you asked 
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previously. 

MR. MELLINO: Well, what was the question 

that I asked previously? 

MR. DAPORE: You asked whether a patient 

with peptic ulcer disease, and then with this 

patient based upon what was in this examination. 

MR. COAKLEY: Then you chanqed to a patient 

with a perforated viscus. 

MR. DAPORE: H e  said his opinion is she 

did not have a perforated viscus when she came 

in. 

BY MR. MELLINO: 

0. What did you just say, it would assist with a 

diagnosis of a perforated -- 
MR. DAPORE: H e  answered the question. 

If there is ulcer disease, it would show free 

air. 

MR. MELLINO: I didn't ask it. 

MR. DAPORE: You asked it before that. 

Q. I said would it show free air if there is a 

perforated viscus. 

A. It may show free air. 

Q So it would assist in the diagnosis of peritonitis? 
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A. NO. I t  would assist ,  an abdominal f i l m  which shows 

f r e e  a i r  i s  d i a g n o s t i c  of a p e r f o r a t e d  v i s c u s .  P e r i t o n i t i s  

i s  an i n f l a m a t o r y  condi t ion secondary t o  many causes ,  one 

of which might  be  p e r f o r a t e d  v i s c u s .  One can have p e r i t o n i t i s  

wi thou t  f r e e  a i r .  

P But Dorothy Love t t  had a p e r f o r a t e d  v i s c u s ?  

A. A t  t h e  t i m e  of h e r  d e a t h .  

P Right .  

A. On autopsy  she  had a p e r f o r a t e d  v i s c u s .  

P But if t h e  p e r f o r a t i o n  had occurred pr ior  t o  h e r  

a r r i v i n g  a t  t h e  emergency room a t  7 o'clock on October 5 t h  

and an  abdominal X-ray w a s  t a k e n ,  it would have shown free air:  

A. ~ I f  one wishes t o  make an assumption t h e  a c t u a l  

p e r f o r a t i o n  occur red  p r i o r  t o  when she  a r r i v e d  a t  t h e  

emergency department .  I have a l r e a d y  t e s t i f i e d  I don't 

b e l i e v e  t h a t  t o  be  t r u e .  If one assuines a pe rZora t ion  i n  

any p a t i e n t  o c c u r s  p r i o r  t o  t h e i r  a r r i v a l  i n  the  emergency 

department ,  t h e n  an  X-ray should  show free a i r .  

P And how would h e r  t r e a t m e n t  have been d i f f e r e n t  

i f  you assumed t h a t  t h e r e  w a s  f r e e  a i r  and i f  YOU assumed 

t h a t  t h e  X-ray had Seen t aken?  
--\ 

'i A. Any p a t i e n t  p r e s e n t i n g  wi th  f r e e  a i r  r e q u i r e s  

s u r g i c a l  e x p l o r a t i o n  t o  de termine  t h e  cause of t h e  free a i r .  

I 
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Dr. McCabe 61 

Q. I ' m  sorry, I may have asked you this before. For 

what do you base your opinion on that the perforation occurred, 

you believe it occurred just prior to her death, riqht, during 

the night? 

MR. DAPORE: He answered the question. 

Q. That was based upon Lovett's testimony, your 

remembrance of Lovett's testimony she had acute pain during 

the night? 

A. And also the findings here which I don't believe 

are consistent with perforation (indicating). 

MR. COAKLEY: The record has to show what 

you are pointing to. 

A. I'm sorry, the findings of the emergency department 

chart of 10/5 that I have reviewed. 

9. Okay. I ' m  going to ask you to assume she did not 

have worsening pain that night. Then would you have an 

opinion based on a reasonable degree of medical probability 

as to when the perforation occurred? 

A. I'm not sure I understand the question. 

YR. DAPORE: He wants you to assume that 

Mr. Lovett has not testified that there was 

increasinq pain during the night. 

MR. MELLIEO: I want him to asswne there 
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wasn't, there wasn't an increase in pain. 

MR. DAPORE: That's what I said, that 

there w a s  not, that he has not testified -- 

MR. MELLINO: You said Mr. Lovett 

testified -- 

MR. DAPORE: He has testified there was 

increasing pain. You want to take that and 

completely eliminate it from his mind. 

MR. MELLINO: That's right. 

A. Then my answer has to be that her perforation 

would have occurred at some point following her visit which 

is documented in the 10 /5 /86  chart, because I don't believe 

that her findings at this point are consistent with perforated 

viscus. 

Q. If the perforation had occurred just prior to her 

arriving at the emergency room, what would you expect her 

presentation to be? 

A. The patient with perforated viscus is a patient 

who generally presents with an acute surgical. abdomen as I 

have described earlier. This lady does not have an acute 

surgical abdomen as described in the examination of 10/5/8G, 

Q. Even if it occurred just prior to her getting there, 

she would still have an acute abdomen? 
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A. Again, you want it 30 seconds before she walked in 

the door, two minutes, five minutes? 

Q. Say within an hour. 

A. Yes, signs of acute abdomen develop quickly. That's 

why it is called an acute abdomen. If you want to ask 30 

minutes or 40 minutes or 20 minutes, it is an impossible 

question to answer, Patient is in the emergency department 

for in excess of an hour. I would expect if she had 

perforation, her exam symptom complex would be different. 

I>. What was the cause of her cardiac arrest on the 

6th? 

A. It is I think impossible for me to give you a 

definite cause of death. Clearly the patient had a duodenal 

ulcer and peritonitis. Whether the peritonitis contributed 

to sepsis as a cause of death or whether there was a primary 

cardiac event secondary to the rupture and peritonitis, those 

are two reasonable causes. 

I would probably more strongly argue that it was a 

cardiac death as it was a very brief period of time from when 

she got much worse until apparently the paramedics or 

ambulance crew I believe found her in asystole which would 

araue for a primary cardiac death probably secondary to 

abdominal disease. 
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Q You don't believe if she wzs in the hospital at 

that time that she could have been resuscitated? 

A. I think that's a question that's impossible for me 

to answer. 

Q. Well, you stated in your report it wouldn't have 

made any difference. 

MR. DAPORE: IrnprobabilTty. I 

A. I think I stated that her diagnostic workup 

probably wouldn't have occurred. And to say she would have 

been resuscitated had she been in the hospital versus outside 

the hospital is purely speculative. I can't give you any 

numbers as to what her chance of survival in-hospital versus 

out would have been. 

Q What's your und-erstanding as to when the tests 

could have been done, diagnostic tests? 

A. Well, I think 1 testified earlier that in one of 

the depositions, and I wasn't sure of the exact location of 

it, that much of her diagnostic workup would probably not 

have occurred until the following Monday morning. 

0. This was Saturday night? 

A. She was admitted Saturday night, I believe. 

Q So I guess the reason I asked you the question 

about resuscitation is that I assuned that she could be kept 
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alive until Monday morninq and she could have been operated 

on at that time; is that an incorrect assumption? 

1, \ 

A. That if the patient had a cardiac arrest in the 

hospital, if she was resuscitated, and if she had the 

diagnosis of ruptured viscus made, then she could have been 

operated on. 

personnel were available at that time to do it, which I have 

no idea. 

I think that's a fair assumption if the surgical 

i 
I Do you have an opinion as to whether or not if all / 

these things you just listed occurred, if she probably would / 

have survived? 

P 

/ i 

A. I can't make an opinion regarding that. di 
(Discussion off  the record.) 

MR. MTELLINO: Just a few more uuestions. 

BY MR. MELLINO: 

P Doctor, were there any diagnostic procedures that 

could have been done while she was in the emerqency room on 

October 5th other than the ones you have mentioned, the 

ultrasound that she needed preparation? 

were there any other diagnostic procedures that could have 

been done while she was in the emergency room on October 5th? 

A. Given her overall presentation, again, and the 

Other than that, 

diagnosis of acute cholecystitis, I think if she were to be 
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admitted to the hospital, certainly as I said before, perhaps 

complete blood count would have been useful, electrolytes 

routinely as an admission procedure, although again, I don’t 

think they would have helped in the specific diagnosis. 

Perhaps amylase level, again, with the diagnosis 

of pancreatitis as I talked about earlier being one of many 

diagnoses that miqht be entertained. 

I think those are the basic laboratory studies that 

could have been performed on someone with abdominal pain 

coming to the emergency department. 

0. How about an abdominal X-ray? 

A. Well, again, I think the abdominal X-ray is useful 

if one suspects an obstruction or if one suspects or thinks 

perforation is likely, And those are the two major areas 

where the abdominal film, abdominal film out of the emergency 

department is helpful in seeing dilated loops of bowels 

consistent with obstruction and seeing free air consistent 

with perforation. 

Q Could those diagnostic studies have been done in 

the emergency room without her being admitted? 

A. Certainly patients, if you look at her record of 

10/4/86, those are many of the studies that were done prior 

to the time she was discharqed OR the 4th. 
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67 Dr. McCabe 

Q. And they took an abdom.ina1 X-ray on the 4th? 

A. It is my understanding they took abdominal film 

from the 4th. 

of stool in the colon. 

Reported as normal except fo r  a large amount 

P But you don't think the standard of care requires 

that those tests have been done in this case? 

A. I think in the evaluation of a patient with 

abdominal pain, the approach is history and physical 

examination, formulation of a differential diaqnosis, and 

then appropriate use of studies to either rule in or rule out 

those entities that you strongly consider. 

It is not clear to me when those studies were done 

in this patient. 

And whether that is because as I said in my letter 

she didn't want admission or whether that's because D r .  Conant 

decided not to do them, I have no way of knowing. 

Q. But it could have been done even if she didn't 

get adinitted? 

A. Certainly as evidenced from 10/4. There are 

studies that could have been done even if the patient were 

to be discharged. 

Q. We 11 I guess I got confused or I didn't understanl! 

your answer then. You don ' t  know why;.they were not done, but 
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it doesn't matter in terms of your opinion whether they were 

done or not? 

A. My opinion with regards to -- 

Q To the standard of care in this case, whether it 

was met or not? 

PIZR. DAPORE: Do you understand what he's 

asking you? 

THE k?ITNESS: Yes and no. 

A. I mean it makes a difference in terms of her 

interest in staying, not stayinq interest and having tests 

done, not done. So I guess it is fair to say the standard 

of care in a patient such as this who  presents for diagnostic 

evaluation in the emergency department, allows tests to be 

performed, and will cooperate with the expected diagnostic- 

results. I think it would be usual for  the patient to have 

probably a CBC done. Although aqain, as I said, that's 

somewhat of a non-specific test. Other tests would be guided 

based upon the history and physical exm.. 

Again, 1 don't think there is any indication here, 

for example, abdominal films needed to be perfomed based 

upon her history and physical examination. 

Q Do you believe that would have been one of the 

diagnostic procedures done had she been admitted? 
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A. At some point if nothinq else in preparation for 

say a sma 1 bowel series or barium enema or gall bladder 

series she would have had some abdominal X-rays performed, 

yes. 

P Wozldn't the tests we have talked about, the CBC, 

electrolytes, and amylase, and even an abdominal X-ray, 

wouldn't they be important for the doctor, the results of 

those tests be important for him to explain the risk of 

leaving the hospital to the patient? 

A. Not necessarily. I mean many of the tests that 

we have talked about are very non-specific tests again. The 

white blood cell count or complete count gives you some clues, 

but are not specific. Again, elevation of the white count ~ 

doesn't necessarily mean she has cholecyskitis or this or 

that. 

So I don't think given the tentative diaqnosis 

of acute cholecystitis that you would need any laboratory 

data in order to explain the risk of leaving against medical 

advice to this patient, no. 

P Do you believe that when Mr. and Mrs. Lovett 

left the emergency room on the 5th that they understood 

what the risks of leaving were? 

A. The only way I can evaluate that is through the 
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depositions of others as to what they were told at the time 

they were in the emergency department. 

And from the deposition particularly of Dorothy 

Robinson, it appears to me she was competent to be told, that 

multiple attempts were made to convince them this patient 

should stay, both to the husband and to the patient, and that 

they were understanding of the nature of the disease and the 

potential consequences. 

Q. Well, what is your understandinq of what risks they 

were told of? 

I mean let me be more specific. I can see Mr. 

Dapore rising up. 

NR. DAPORE: I an not going anywhere. 

MR. MELLINO: I didn't mean you were q-oinq 

anywhere. 

MR. DAPORE: I am not rising up. 

P There w a s  a conversation that took place, at least 

was testified to that took place outside the hospital, Mr. 

Lovett testified to it, and my recollection of Dorothy 

Robinson's or Nurse Robinson's testimony was that she didn't 

have any reason to believe that it didn't take place. 

And that is that Mr. Lovett asked Dr. Conant i f  

it was serious. And he said it could be if the Tall bladder 
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71 Dr. McCabe 

ruptures and something to the effect that if the medications 

didn't work, they would have to go in and take the sucker out. 

Is that your understandinq as to what risks were 

explained to the patient or is it more than that? 

A. Well, Mr. Lovett testifies to that. And in Dorothy 

Robinson's deposition, I don't think she's able to specifically 

recall that. But I believe, and we can look f o r  a specific 

passage, that she stated that she discussed the diagnosis 

both with the husband and with the patient and informed them 

of the problems that might he associated with leaving. I 

don't recall any discussion of again specific risks. I mean 

I don't, I cannot tell you f o r  sure that the patient was 

informed of a, b, c, and d as far as exact risks. I don't 

believe -that that documentation exists in any of the material 

that I have gotten. 

Q. Okay. So since the only document we have is of 

this one conversation, I want you to assume for me that that 

is the only thing that at least I v l r .  Lovett was told or let's 

assume that is what both of them were told regarding the 

diagnosis and the risks. 

Is that in your opinion 

if that was, if that was adequate 

Lovetts? 

or do you have an opinion 

to explain the risks to 
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FIR. COAKLEY: Objection. 

KR. DAPORE: Objection. 

MI\. COAKLEY: Prior testimony was there 

were nultiple discussions and you are limiting 

it to one discussion. 

MR. MELLINO: That's fine. 

BY MR. MELLINO: 

p. I am asking you to assume that was the only 

discussion that was ever had about the risks of her leaving 

the hospital. 

A. You were asking me if the only  thins that was ever 

said to the family members about the risk of her leaving the 

hospital-was that statement if the gall bladder bursts, we 

will have to rip the sucker out. 

documentation of either disease and/or r i s k ,  if you assume 

that's the only thing that was said. 

That's not appropriate 

0, And as far as all of the testimony in the records 

are concerned, that's the only conversation that we have 

specific, that we know what specific risks were discussed? 

MR. COAKLEY: Objection. 

Q. Is that right? 

EIR. DAPORE: Objection. You can answer. 

A. I think there are multiple passages in Dorothy 
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Robinson's deposition, again, where specific risks were not 

mentioned, but that the topic of explanation of risk to the 

patient was discussed both with the patient and with the 

patient's husband. 

0. Sut there is nothing in Dorothy Robinson's 

deposition that you remember, anyway I mean it will speak 

for itself, that you remember where she specifically described 

the risks to Mrs. Lovett or Mr. Lovett? 

A. No. I think as I testified multiple times today 

she stated that the risks were discussed with both Mrs. Lovett 

and Mr. Lovett. But as to the exact details of that 

discussion -- 
P We don't know what risks she discussed with them? 

A. I don't know the specific r i s k s ,  no. 

Q. Would it have been appropriate f o r  I .V .  therapy to 

be carried out in the emergency room prior to her being 

discharged on October Sth? 

A. Given the information in the medical records that 

I have here, I don't think that it is necessarily appropriate 

she have I.V. hydration o r  I.V. fluid therapy if she was 

leaving against medical advice. 

Q. But even assuming she was leavinq against nedical 

advice, she could have had the I . V .  therapy and diagnostic 
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studies done in the emergency roon without being admitted; 

is that right? 

A. Well, I have already said any diaqnostic studies 

similar to the ones the previous day could have been performed 

The point of admitting the patient with I . V .  

hydration is actually to give the bowel a rest and feed 

intravenously for a period of time. To have done that over 

a course of a one-hour stay in the emergency department would 

not probably have been particularly fruitful. 

Q Assume fo r  me, if you would, that the injection of 

the Demerol made Mrs. Lovett incompetent to execute the A ?  

form, if that were true, if you assumed that to be true, do 

you have an opinion as to whether or not the standard of care 

was met in terms of her signing out against medical advice? 

MR. DAP0R.E: Objection, you can answer 

the question. 

A. I think if you assumed that the only discussion 

about leaving against medical advice occurred at the point 

when the patient was not competent to have that discussion, 

be it from Demerol or  any other cause, then the execution of 

the document would be inappropriate. 

In this specific case we don't know what discussion 

occurred prior to the time that the patient got the Demerol. 
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Patient is in the emergency department f o r  a period of 40 

minutes pr or to that. 

It is not clear to me what discussion went on. 

Perhaps a qreat deal of discussion about her wishing to leave 

AMA occurred and a final decision was reached prior to the 

administration of the Dernerol. I have no way of knowing that. 

S o  if you want to make the assumption that no 

discussion took place the entire t i m e  until the patient was in 

an incompetent state, then you have not fulfilled the principa 

AMA rules that I started with two hours aqo. 

MR. MELLIMO: I don’t have any other 

questions. 

F?R. COAKLEY: No questions. 

MR. DAPORE: You have the riaht to have 

this transcript prepared and review it for 

accuracy. You can’t change your comments, only 

review it. 

signature testing the Court Reporter’s ability 

to take down the information. 

You can also waive that right to 

I feel you can go ahead an3 waive it. 

THE WITNESS: Fine, I will waive. 

* * * 
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The foregoing is certifiez to be a true 

and correct transcript of the testimony in 

this proceeding. 

Deborah S. Gosline 
Notary Public- 
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